CONFIRMATIVE PRACTICE REPORT

Exploring the effects of the Nixon mine

Seren Willicombe (2000592)

MA Contemporary Dialogues

Table of Contents

Introduction	
History of the mine	4
Landscape	6
Elf Cup Mushrooms / Sarcoscypha austriaca	7
Site-Specific	9
Hauntology and Time	10
Artists	12
Federico Pestilli	12
Mika Rottenberg	14
Yayoi Kusama	16
Experimenting leading to 3D Printing	17
Ghost Polaroids	22
Layers and Cycles	
Exhibition	25
Conclusion	27
Reference list	

FIGURE 1: PHOTOGRAPH OF A COAL AUTHORITY SIGN AT ONE OF THE ENTRANCES AT THE NIXON
MINE. [PHOTOGRAPH]5
FIGURE 2: ELF CUP MUSHROOMS SWAMPING THE LANDSCAPE OF THE NIXON MINE. [PHOTOGRAPH] .7
FIGURE 3: 3D SCAN OF AN ELF CUP MUSHROOM. [3D SCAN / PHOTOGRAPH]9
FIGURE 4: FEDERICO PESTILLI (2019) CRUSHED ROSE 1. [PHOTOGRAPH] AVAILABLE AT:
HTTPS://WWW.CARRIE-SCOTT.COM/SHOP/FEDERICO-PESTILLI-CRUSHED-ROSE-I-MFW3P13
FIGURE 5: MIKA ROTTENBERG (2024) PHOTOGRAPH OF MUSHROOM SCULPTURE [PHOTOGRAPH AND
SCULPTURE] AVAILABLE AT: HTTPS://WWW.HAUSERWIRTH.COM/URSULA/MIKA-ROTTENBERG-
PLASTIC/15
FIGURE 6: YAYOI KUSAMA (2021-2024) PHOTOGRAPH OF INFINITY MIRROR ROOM [PHOTOGRAPH OF
INSTALLATION] AVAILABLE AT: HTTPS://WWW.TATE.ORG.UK/WHATS-ON/TATE-MODERN/YAYOI-
KUSAMA-INFINITY-MIRROR-ROOMS16
FIGURE 7: CYANOTYPE OF LOCAL PLANT LIFE FROM CWM CLYDACH. [CYANOTYPE / PHOTOGRAPH]17
FIGURE 8: SCREENSHOT OF THE 3D PRINTER SLICER SOFTWARE. [SCREENSHOT]19
FIGURE 9: FLATBED SCAN OF THREE 3D PRINTED ELF CUP MUSHROOMS. [PHOTOGRAPH]20
FIGURE 10: SHORT VIDEO OF THE 3D PRINTING PROCESS. [VIDEO]22
FIGURE 11: 3D PRINTED MUSHROOM HANGING FROM A TREE IN THE LANDSCAPE OF THE MINE ON
POLAROID SPECTRA FILM. [POLAROID]23
FIGURE 12: A COLLECTION OF 3D PRINTS CREATED BY LAYERS AND CYCLES. [PHOTOGRAPH]24
FIGURE 13: FIRST EXHIBITION EXPERIMENT. [INSTALLATION / PHOTOGRAPH]26
FIGURE 14: FIRST DRAFT OF THE BOOK. [SCREENSHOT]

Introduction

The landscape of South Wales has been manufactured and shaped by the interference of the coal mining industry. Many communities both small and large began to disband with the closures of the mines, also destroying the natural landscape. Communities began to diverse and evolve alongside the physical and cultural landscape. This project explores the effects of the interference on the landscape of Craig Cefn Parc caused by the Nixon mine.

Individuals have been interacting and interfering with the landscape in South Wales for generations, including through coal mining and water reservoirs, which have permanently altered the Welsh landscape (Llewellyn et al., 2017), not only physically but also culturally and metaphorically and will continue to do so. This body of work is an exploration of the cultural and physical interference of industrial mining on the landscape and how the community has developed.

This project challenges what photography could be by relating photography and 3D printing which has impacted my journey as an artist. Combining mediums motivated me to refine my own distinctive practice and style. I have created a body work that has followed a distinctive path by extensively exploring my interest in combining 3D printing and photography to produce my own immersive art. This report combines all the evidence from my research. In this review I will discuss all the components that construct my practice, including artists who inspire specific aspects of my practice,

theories of hauntology and landscape, and how I utilised my unique skill palette to create this body of work.

The key theories that are explored include hauntology, site-specific, landscape, layers and time. Each theory performs a different function within this project, intertwining on many occasions. This project utilises these theories to physically and metaphorically explore the landscape of a local abandoned mine which is now a protected Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) nature reserve. The project explores the physical changes and traces of the landscape, and the effect of changes within the community that occurred because of the mine. Both the physical and metaphorical landscape are important to this project. The multiple layers explored in this project allows the audience to view the work in multiple ways. The theme of layers continues to be important and is represented by the layers that create a 3D Printing artifact. It is important for me as an autistic artist that the medium used and the work created is accessible for all to experience. I believe everyone should have the opportunity to explore and enjoy my practice whether they understand art theories or simply enjoy the aesthetics of the work, including it being tactile as well as visual.

History of the mine

To understand my exploration of the landscape, it is imperative to understand the history of the mine and the community it provided substance to. Welshcoalmines.co.uk (n.d) offers a brief overview of the history of the mine. The Clydach Merthyr mine, known as the 'Nixon' mine, was a small drift mine in the small Welsh village of Craig Cefn Parc, located in the Swansea Valley.



Figure 1: Photograph of a Coal Authority sign at one of the entrances at the Nixon mine. [Photograph]

The mine was opened in 1863 and in its early years by 1896, it had 406 workers. At its peak it had just under 600 workers and was the main source of employment for the men and sometimes children in the village. The mine stopped operating in 1961 but remained open until 1978 for ventilation for other mines in the Swansea Valley. The closure resulted in unemployment with many people having to find work outside the village (BBC, 2014). Some of the workers and others who have explored the mine still live in the village are a vital part of the community and continue to share stories and their experiences about how the community and landscape has changed.

The landscape of the mine is now a RSPB nature reserve (RSPB, 2025) with many of the structures such as old carts, rails and brick ruins still visible in the landscape. There is a wide variety fauna and flora that thrive in the landscape; tall trees produce shade over the river and small waterfalls now flow over abandoned wall and buildings. This is a physical representation of nature recovering growth through an industrial landscape.

Landscape

The small Welsh village and abandoned mine hidden in the Swansea Valley is where I grew up and discovered my love for photography and the landscape. As I child I would walk and play in the river that supplied the mine with water, searching for artefacts from the mine, and exploring the abandoned structures. I was fascinated by the tracks in the paths and the abandoned minecarts. I explored the landscape of the mine and photographed what was left attempting to capture the exceptional qualities of the landscape, which led me to research how the mine itself interacts with the landscape. Wells (2011, p.19) discusses how we as humans shape our own landscape and states "traces of previous human tenancy mark the lands we inhabit". Wells implies that that our landscape is a combination of nature and nurture. The landscape of the mine that is investigated in this project has been physical and metaphorically explored, being shaped by the non-organic interference of the mining industry and industrialism in Wales. Wells (2011, p. 19) states "human action contours the landscape, and stories told give meaning to it". Applying this to my practice indicates that the mine formed the current landscape. The landscape tells the story of the mine and continues to narrate the landscape. In this project I searched for traces of the mine that were left by previous generations and were reclaimed by nature, such as wildlife emerging through the old brickwork ruins. Whilst exploring the landscape, many man-made and organic traces were discovered and the intertwining of the two became evident. This mirrored the developments and intertwining of old with the new community. The new natural organic environment would not have been created in this way if not for the specific past industrialism and the landscape would have been developed completely differently.

After completing research into the landscape, I then discovered one of the most unique aspects of the landscape, which appears in form of a mushroom.

Whilst exploring, Elf Cup mushrooms (Sarcoscypha austriaca) were discovered in the landscape that only had the ability exist because of the interference of the colliery. After discovering this I decided to do further research into the mushrooms and the connection between landscape and hauntology.



Figure 2: Elf Cup mushrooms swamping the landscape of the Nixon mine. [Photograph]

Elf Cup Mushrooms / Sarcoscypha austriaca

To understand what the mushroom represents to the element of this project it is important to understand the composition of the Elf Cup mushroom. The Woodland Trust (2025) has a brief overview and information about the Elf Cup mushroom. The Elf Cup mushroom is a distinctive fungus that is relatively rare in the UK but engulfs the valley where the mine is situated. According to European folklore the mushrooms are used as cups by elves to drink the morning dew which relates to the Welsh landscape as the Welsh landscape is full of folklore and history. The Elf Cup grows on debris in damp locations. They appear in the winters months and are often hidden in the dead winter leaves. They emerge in their bright beautiful red colouring, contrasting against the bleak bare winter landscape. The interference of the mine and the industrialism in the landscape moulded it to be the perfect setting for the mushrooms to thrive.

As well as being the ideal habitat for the mushrooms to grow, they are also seamless as a metaphor for the local community. Unlike many mining communities in South Wales, the local village where the mine is situated continued to break through and flourish after the closure of the mine, comparable to the mushrooms continuing to grow and bloom through the industrial man-made landscape of the mine. Throughout this project I have experimented with the mushrooms and using the growth of the mushrooms as a metaphor for the growth of the community. Due to their significance in the landscape the mushrooms grew to be the main representation in my practice. The mushrooms became a constant throughout my practice and led my research to the use of new mediums such the detail of 3D scanning/imaging and 3D printing.

Today's landscape is a ghost of the mines which will be fully explored under the section on hauntology. The natural Elf Cup and creation of the 3D printed mushrooms is a representation of this ghost. The concept of traces also connects to hauntology suggesting that this project cannot exclude one, it must include both theories of landscapes and hauntology.

Site-Specific

This project is not only important to me as a native of the village, but also for the wider history of the mining legacy in South Wales. As this body of work developed it became about challenging the concept of site-specific photography and art and about removing the traces of the environment and recreating them in a different environment. Essentially, this project transposes the physical and metaphorical landscape of the mushrooms to a new location without losing its foundations, which are the metaphorical connections between the landscape and the community.



Figure 3: 3D scan of an Elf Cup mushroom. [3D scan / Photograph]

I believe the metaphorical use of these specific mushrooms can only be applicable to this landscape. "Indeed, a definition of site-specificity might begin quite simply by describing the basis of such an exchange. If one accepts the proposition that the meanings of utterances, actions and events are affected by their 'local position', by the *situation* of which they are a part, then a work of art, too, will be defined in relation to its place and position." (Kaye, 2000, p.13). This indicates that site-specific is not only about the place that the work is situated in, but about the connection between the work and the landscape. This is further discussed by Kwon (2002, p.11) who agrees that site-specific work connects elements of landscape to unique artworks. This project could not exist without the original landscape; it is intertwined with the landscape and cannot be untwined. I am transporting elements of the mushrooms from the landscape into a new creation of the landscape.

Hauntology and Time

"Ghosts arrive from the past and appear in the present. However, the ghost cannot be properly said to belong to the past" (Fisher, 2006). Fisher's quote relates to Wells's (2011) discussion about traces in the landscape. It is possible to identify this with the Elf Cup mushrooms when considered as a ghost created by past actions of industrialism. The real Elf Cup mushrooms explored in this project are a representation of the change in the natural landscape caused by the mine.

Hauntology is one of the main defining themes developed throughout my practice. Hauntology is very evident in this specific body of work. The mushrooms are a physical representation of hauntology. They demonstrate how the past and future are united. The past can affect the outcome of the future, and the future can change the way we view the past (Fisher, 2006). The Elf Cup mushrooms grow on dead trees and other vegetation. The plants that the mushrooms grow on have the ability to generate two

distinctive futures. One is where the plants continue to grow. If there is no dead vegetation the mushroom cannot grow, resulting in a different landscape we cannot see today. The other possibility, which is present today, is that we see where the florae died which has permitted the mushrooms to flourish and take control, growing and consuming the Valley in bright red colours. The mushrooms also represent hauntology in a metaphorical sense as they are a representation of the Valley's community. Similar to the mushrooms, the community pushed through the closure of the mine and now thrive.

"What defined this "hauntological" confluence more than anything else was its confrontation with a cultural impasse: the failure of the future" (Fisher, 2012, p.16). Hauntology is more than a physical ghost but a metaphorical ghost (Fisher, 2006). The 'failure of the future' implies that the past cannot be separated from the present and the future. This is seen within my practice, because the history of the mine cannot be separated from the current metaphorical and physical landscape, homes, and community. These aspects only exist in their current form because of the creation of the mine.

Fisher (2012, p.16) discusses hauntology with its connection to a future that may never come. This applies to the landscape that is explored in this project. "Haunting can be seen as intrinsically resistant to the contraction and homogenization of time and space. It happens when a place is stained by time, or when a particular place becomes the site for an encounter with broken time" (Fisher, 2012, p. 19). Fisher explores how time is intertwined with hauntology and is prevalent throughout my practice. Throughout my development as a visual artist time has been a recurring theme, and this project is no

exception. Relating back to hauntology this project utilises time to demonstrate the changes in the landscape. Hauntology and time are combined theories (McPherson, 2024). Time is an essential aspect within this project as the mushroom only grow for a few months every year, and there is no guarantee they will grow again. This project preserves their existence and frames them in a timeless motion.

Artists

This chapter discusses artists and practitioners that have influenced my development during this project.

Federico Pestilli

Federico Pestilli's practice inspired me to explore the landscape as a metaphor and representation of the community, and the interference of the mining industry in the landscape. Pestilli utilises materials such as plastic as a metaphorical representation for how human interference is destroying the earth (Carrie Scott, 2025). I was inspired by Pestilli's practices to utilise organic and non-organic materials as a metaphor for the consequences of the mine, including what many saw as environmental destruction.

Figure 4: Federico Pestilli (2019) *Crushed Rose 1*. [Photograph] Available at: https://www.carriescott.com/shop/federico-pestilli-crushed-rose-i-mfw3p

YU Rui-rui (2022, p. 811) stated that "Plants are closely related with human life. Plant metaphor is a tool for us to understand and recognize the world by using plants on the basis of our experience of the objective world." Pestilli emphasises this by utilising flowers in their practice to explore how we as humans are destroying the world (Theunissen, 2022). In my practice I use this concept with Elf Cup mushrooms. They are a plant for my audience to experience and understand the effects created by the mine on the landscape.

Mika Rottenberg

Mika Rottenberg, an artist recommended to me by a fellow peer, created their own version of plastic mushrooms using recycled plastic (Tsonopoulos, 2024). The technique they use is completely different to my own as I utilise 3D printing and they use a hand moulding technique. They also recycled plastic, and I do not. However, the visual imagery is also inspiring to me due to the similarity to my practice. They discuss how plastic is essential to manufacturing and daily life, including artworks (Tsonopoulos, 2024).

I used Polylactic Acid filament (PLA), which is a plastic filament, as the main source of material in my recreations of the Elf Cup mushroom. The mushrooms that I have created have an organic shape and are bodily but are still obviously plastic and fake, which generates a sensation of sadness because they are no longer a living thing. Rottenberg said "there's something both like tragic, toxic, and seductive and so bodily" (Tsonopoulos, 2024). This is evident within my practice. Figure 5: Mika Rottenberg (2024) *Photograph of mushroom Sculpture* [photograph and Sculpture] Available at: https://www.hauserwirth.com/ursula/mika-rottenberg-plastic/

It is important to clarify that plastic is detrimental to our environment, which when identified changes the way the mushrooms are viewed. Rottenberg mentioned that "there is something of sad in plastic" (Tsonopoulos, 2024). When the audience recognise this aspect, it alters the perception of the mushrooms representing a natural state and they are a manufactured industrial artifact that merely represents a bodily form.

Rottenberg states "we can no longer move away from plastic" (Tsonopoulos, 2024). This sentiment is true; plastic is the next step in industrialism. In previous generations the industrial revolution was led by other materials such as coal and iron. Therefore, by utilising plastic in this project, the use of the PLA represents the infiltration of plastic of the environmental changes within South Wales and beyond.

Yayoi Kusama

Figure 6: Yayoi Kusama (2021-2024) *Photograph of Infinity Mirror Room* [Photograph of installation] Available at: https://www.tate.org.uk/whats-on/tate-modern/yayoi-kusama-infinity-mirror-rooms

Another artist that has had a huge influence throughout my practice, continuing within this project, is Yayoi Kusama. The bright colours, patterns, and repetition that is present throughout her projects are some of the main themes from her practice that motivate and inspire the techniques in my practice. This is evident within the contrasting bright colours utilised within the creation of the mushrooms. The viewer becomes part of her practice and is able to immerse themselves in the work. I was able to visit Kusama's *Infinity Mirror Rooms* (2021-2024) and the ability to walk into each room and be fully immersed in the experience, is what I aim to create with my project. Interactive immersion is something I want my audience to experience. Accessibility and enjoyment for all is essential to my practice and I feel this is one technique to encourage this.

My practice has been inspired by these artists, and they have shaped the direction of my experiments.

Experimenting leading to 3D Printing



Figure 7: Cyanotype of local plant life from Cwm Clydach. [Cyanotype / Photograph] Utilising the research about hauntology and how I connected it with the landscape, the project became about experimenting. I did this by removing traces from the landscape to create echoes of the mine and landscape. I collected man-made objects including old bolts and machine parts that have been abandoned in the landscape, physically removing traces created by humans from the land. I then collected plants and produced cyanotypes to create physical traces of the plants that grow in the landscape (see Figure 7). I developed the cyanotypes on location and washed them using water from the river creating site-specific bodies of work. This experiment forms metaphorical ghosts by bringing plants from the past to the present, exploring Fishers (2006) concepts of hauntological ghosts. The experiment process struggled to progress further because it was limited by the availability of resources that could be removed without disrupting the natural landscape. This experience provided the foundations for the next experiment undertaken, along with further investigation of the landscape using more

contemporary techniques. Reflecting on Rottenberg's (Tsonopoulos, 2024) mushrooms encouraged me to undertake the next stage of experimental work. This led my decision to use 3D printing. I experimented with non-organic materials, such as PLA filament, as a representation for the industrialism in the landscape.

By utilising 3D scanning and printing I can preserve aspects of the landscape that are normally temporary such as the Elf Cups that only grow for a few months during the year. 3D printing is a relatively new technology that is constantly evolving (Braun, 2024). Polylactic Acid filament (PLA) is the main filament used in 3D printing. This project utilises PLA as the main material because it represents the bond of the non-organic industrialism in the organic and natural landscape. PLA is considered a filament that is more environmentally friendly than previously used plastics (Colwell, 2024). PLA is "biodegradable, bio-absorbable and renewable thermoplastic polyester" (Liu et al., 2017). This itself is a fascinating interaction between the organic and non-organic. The question arises however, is any plastic truly environmentally friendly? This includes PLA as it has been shown to be detrimental to the environment and our health (Karidis, 2024). The main filament / materials used in this project relates back to Pestilli and their practice of using organic and non-organic material. 3D scanning and printing is not often associated with photography. However, as a result of discussions with my peers, I identified that I am creating a form of 3D photographs. 3D printing and photography are closely connected.

Walter Benjamin famously argued that the mass reproduction of works of art, enabled by modern technologies like photography, makes it possible to conceive of an auratic object even if it contributes to its destruction. For Benjamin, aura is linked to a work's 'unique existence' in time and place (Elias, 2019, p. 696)

This indicates that 3D printing is a new development of photography. This is present in my practice; I utilise 3D printing to drive my photography forward. 3D printing the mushrooms does alter the aura of the mushrooms but not enough to completely change it, allowing the audience to experience much of their original aura.



Figure 8: Screenshot of the 3D printer slicer software. [Screenshot]

"I argue that 3D printing unsettles the relationship between original and copy in ways that serve to recast long-standing debates regarding the so-called waning of aura in the age of digital reproduction" (Elias, 2019, p. 692). This quote suggests that changing the original object's purpose gives it a new form of life. I have attempted to recreate this within my practice. By scanning and printing the mushrooms using filaments such as PLA, it changes them from being an organic mushroom to a representation for the interaction of the mining industry in this particular landscape, maintaining an element of their original aura.



Figure 9: Flatbed scan of three 3D printed Elf Cup mushrooms. [Photograph]

Utilising 3D printing and 3D scanning is a technique often used by museum institutes to preserve artifacts that may disintegrate over time, enhancing availability to a wider audience as the object can stay in its original location and the 3D print can be shared all over the world (Elias, 2019). By having the artifacts 3D printed it becomes more accessible as those who may not be able to travel to the location to see original works. It also provides opportunity and to hold, feel the and experience objects through the sense of touch. (Elias, 2019).

3D scanners and printers offer a relatively inexpensive means of preserving threatened, destroyed, or lost cultural artefacts. At the same time, the digital reproduction of this heritage (which now increasingly results in physical replicas) resonates with a public that wants to experience historical monuments and objects at first hand. While this technology has been praised for its salvific and democratic potential, its adoption by museums and privately financed preservation institutions raises two pressing questions: who has the right to reconstruct destroyed heritage, and how do contemporary technologies serve to alter the ontological weight and symbolic value assigned to artefacts? (Elias, 2019, p. 690).

Elias (2019, p. 690) supports the concept that 3D printing allows the audience to

physically experience the object from the landscape, as seen in this project. 3D printing

also preserves the Elf Cups. Because the mushrooms are rare and only grow specific times of the year and die, 3D scanning and printing the mushrooms has preserved a trace of the landscape and creates ghosts of the landscape.

After I collected the Elf Cup mushrooms from the old mine works, I continued to utilise the 3D scanner at the university to create 3D models of the mushrooms. These were then manipulated using 3D software to prepare the 3D models before uploading them to a slicer. This process prepared the model for printing. After inputing the correct settings and uploading the file to a 3D printer with the correct filament, the printing process started. Printing can take from 3 to 20 hours depending on the size and speed of the print. After the Elf Cups have finished printing, I removed the supports and excess filament. This was the end of the process for some of the prints. However, some prints were sanded and primed using a plastic primer. and very fine sandpaper to hide the layer lines and to create a smother finish, maintaining the organic shape of the mushrooms. Some of the mushrooms were painted using bright colours to maintain the non-organic plastic like feel to the prints while maintaining the organic body of the mushrooms. After creating all the mushrooms, I used nylon thread to suspend the mushrooms in mid-air within the landscape of the mines. Having the mushrooms suspended as if they are floating instead of on the ground is a reminder that they are not organic, and rather a representation of aspects of the landscape. They remain disconnected from the true organic landscape. The grouping of the mushrooms is a metaphor for the growth of a new community flourishing because of the decline of the mine.



Figure 10: Short video of the 3D printing process. [Video]

Ghost Polaroids

A collection of artists have previously used polaroid spectra film to capture ghosts (Drkrm.com, n.d.). This inspired me to photograph the 3D mushrooms using spectra film as well as other polaroid film as an attempt to capture the ghost of the mine as seen in Figure 11. This relates to Fisher's (2006) hauntology, where physical ghosts of the past are visible in current time and the future. I used the 3D printed mushrooms as traces of the landscape and they are ghosts of the history of the mine in the current landscape.



Figure 11: 3D printed mushroom hanging from a tree in the landscape of the mine on polaroid spectra film. [Polaroid]

The experiment was successful and facilitated the discovery that I had begun to create layers and cycles within my project.

Layers and Cycles

Layering is a traditional technique that has been used in art for centuries (Tate, 2025). This project is an example of the use of layers in a contemporary context. As I scanned and printed, I was creating layers as a representation of the cycle of natural life and industrialism. Here the layers represent time, the life cycle and industrialism. I continued to scan and print the mushrooms distorting the original purpose of being traces of the mine and its history, like a memory. Each cycle/layer I create is a new fragment of the landscape and a new memory is created and recorded. An example of this can be seen in Figure 12.

The creation of layers also encourages the audience to visualise these different aspects of the landscape and my practice depending on which layer they focus upon. One layer represents the current community that has developed since the closure of the mine. Another layer is a representation the industrialism in the area and the effects it has had on the landscape. There is a further layer that represents the flora and fauna of the landscape. Each layer is a fragment of the whole story but can be viewed independently by themselves.



Figure 12: A collection of 3D prints created by layers and cycles. [photograph]

The importance of layers is further demonstrated within the use of 3D printing. 3D printing comprises of layers of melted plastic to create a 3D objects. The layers in my 3D prints are also a representation of the layers and cycles within my practice.

Exhibition

This project drew together theories discussed in this report to create a body of work. For the exhibition I displayed the 3D printed mushrooms hanging from the ceiling using nylon wire and project photographs of the landscape in front of the mushrooms, recreating the physical layers of the landscape. The walls, ceiling, and floors were painted black to feel as if you were walking into the entrance of the mine. This also represented the dark, gloomy environment in which the mushrooms originally grew in. The large number of different sized and coloured mushrooms metaphorically represents the flourishing growth of the changing and diverse new community. I particularly wanted this project to be accessible and interactive for as many people as possible, therefore I have created an experience that allows the viewers to explore the work through sight and touch, without fear of damaging anything. Many elements of the installation could be recreated, and any damage is a representation of the alterations caused by the mine that change the course of the landscape and community.

Due to the large volume of experimental work, I created a book to display my work concisely. This book was placed next to the installation to provide a wider understanding of my practice for viewers.



Figure 13: First exhibition experiment. [Installation / Photograph]



Figure 14: First draft of the book. [Screenshot]

Conclusion

To conclude, the purpose of this project was to explore the impact of the Nixon mine on the environment and community of the Welsh Valley village of Craig Cefn Parc, through the medium of photography and 3D printing. I utilised theories of hauntology, time, sitespecific, layers and landscape to explore the physical and metaphorical landscape that led to the discovery of a new environment and community that may not have existed if it were not for the mine. I have challenged how these theories and mediums are used to explore this site-specific landscape.

Hauntology and time are intertwined with landscape and cannot be separated. This project demonstrates this bond, and it would be impossible for me to create this body of work without exploring these theories. The current landscape is the ghost of the interference of the mine, and the community would not exist in its current form if not for the mine. Hauntology, time, and site-specific theories have supported my documentation of the growth and changes in the landscape physically and metaphorically. Defining layers within the work encouraged me to explore the different cycles the landscape and community experience. This project also led me to embrace my local community and to discover aspects of the landscape that I have never seen before such as the Elf Cup mushrooms.

I overcame some difficulties throughout the process of the project. For example, I could only remove a certain amount of elements from the landscape without permanently altering the existing physical landscape. This was resolved by the use of 3D printing as I

was able to reproduces a selection of mushrooms from the landscape without altering the environment.

Undertaking this project encouraged me to become more decisive about how to work with the landscape as a metaphor for the community. This project facilitated my desire and ability to explore new technology such as 3D scanning, something I had never considered previously. It encouraged me to examine what could be considered photography, for example using a camera that takes a collection of 2D photographs and videos to create a 3D object and how to combine mediums to produce a body of work that is unique to me as an artist. Through a combination of successful and failed experimentation, I discovered the most productive structure for my practice. I ensured that accessibility remained a priority by including the use of senses such as sight and touch without fear of causing damage.

I will continue to explore this particular landscape and experiment, discovering new aspects of the landscape that will expand and enhance my practice. This project will continue to grow and change as the landscape also continues to evolve. I hope to create further immersive and accessible experiences as my practice continues.

Reference list

3D Printed Props (2021). *Finishing 3D Prints: How to Sand, Fill and Prime 3D Printed Parts*. [online] www.youtube.com. Available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZTE9bJyUO_8.

Abrahimia, A. (2022). *10 artists working with uncommon materials*. [online] Affordable Art Fair. Available at: https://affordableartfair.com/inspiration/10-artists-working-with-uncommon-materials/.

Antrop, M. (2005). Why Landscapes of the Past are Important for the Future. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, [online] 70(1-2), pp.21–34. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2003.10.002.

Augustyn, J. (2021). *Ghostwriter: The Polaroid Ghost and Other True Tales of the Paranormal*. Drkrm.

Barcio, P. (2017). *These Artists Continue to Redefine 3D Printing Art*. [online] IdeelArt.com. Available at: https://www.ideelart.com/magazine/3d-printed-art.

Barthes, R. (2020). Camera lucida. London: Vintage Classics.

BBC (2014). South Wales mining communities 'still feeling' job cuts. *BBC News*. [online] 19 Jun. Available at: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-27920610.

BioPak Team (2023). *What is PLA?* | *BioPak*. [online] www.biopak.com. Available at: https://www.biopak.com/uk/resources/what-is-pla.

Birt, E. (2023). From working quarry to nature reserve, Pontarddulais' Bolgoed Quarry. [online] South Wales Guardian. Available at: https://www.southwalesguardian.co.uk/news/23456125.history-bolgoed-quarrypontarddulais-now-nature-reserve/ [Accessed 14 Feb. 2024].

Braun, E. (2024). *The Future is Here: Unpacking the Latest Breakthroughs in 3D Printing Technology*. [online] NORCK. Available at: https://www.norck.com/blogs/news/the-future-is-here-unpacking-the-latest-breakthroughs-in-3d-printing-technology.

Cao, M. (2023). From PET Waste to PETG: Closing the Loop with 3D Printing | IC3D Printers. [online] IC3D Printers | Democratizing Manufacturing for Everyone. Available at: https://www.ic3dprinters.com/from-pet-waste-to-petg-closing-the-loop-with-3d-printing/ [Accessed 28 Oct. 2024].

Capucci, P.L. (2014). New perspectives about Nature and life. *Technoetic Arts*, 12(2), pp.375–387. doi:https://doi.org/10.1386/tear.12.2-3.375_1.

Carrie Scott. (2025). *Federico Pestilli*. [online] Available at: https://www.carrie-scott.com/federico-pestilli [Accessed 29 Apr. 2025].

Caygill, H. (2021). Harold Wager and the photography of plants. *photographies*, 14(3), pp.505–519. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/17540763.2021.1957005.

Clydach Historical Society (n.d.). *Photographic Souvenir of Old Clydach & District Volume* 6. Neath Abbey: Glamorgan Press.

coflein.gov.uk. (n.d.). *English – Coflein*. [online] Available at: https://coflein.gov.uk/en/site/301165/ [Accessed 14 Feb. 2024].

Colwell, C. (2024). Understanding Polylactic Acid (PLA) in Sustainable Packaging. [online] Jacobwhite.com. Available at: https://www.jacobwhite.com/news/understanding-polylactic-acid-pla-sustainablepackaging.

Coverley, M. (2018). Psychogeography. Harpenden: Oldcastle Books.

Coverley, M. (2020). Hauntology: Ghosts of Futures Past. S.L.: Oldcastle Books Ltd.

Davies, J.I. (1948). *Craig-cefn-parc: Mine, School and Christmas Cake. player.bfi.org.uk*. Available at: https://player.bfi.org.uk/free/film/watch-craigcefn-parc-mine-school-and-christmas-cake-1948-online [Accessed 9 Feb. 2024].

Davies, J.I. (n.d.). *Craig-cefn-parc: Smiling Faces. player.bfi.org.uk*. Available at: https://player.bfi.org.uk/free/film/watch-craig-cefn-parc-smiling-faces-1950-online [Accessed 21 May 2025].

Davies, J.I. (n.d.). *Working Underground*. *Peoples Collection Wales*. Available at: https://www.peoplescollection.wales/items/392425 [Accessed 9 Feb. 2024].

Davis, C. (2005). Hauntology, spectres and phantoms. *French Studies*, [online] 59(3), pp.373–379. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/fs/kni143.

Dean, L.T. (2024). [online] Futurefactories.com. Available at: http://www.futurefactories.com [Accessed 8 Aug. 2024].

Debord, G. (2005). The Society of the Spectacle. London: Rebel Press.

Derrida, J. (2006). *Spectres of Marx*. Routledge Classics ed. [online] Translated by P. Kamuf. New York: Routledge. Available at: https://files.libcom.org/files/Derrida%20-%20Specters%20of%20Marx%20-

%20The%20State%20of%20the%20Debt,%20the%20Work%20of%20Mourning%20an d%20the%20New%20International.pdf [Accessed 30 Oct. 2024].

Dick Blick Holdings Inc and Utrecht Art Supplies (2022). *Product Profiles: Organic, Synthetic, Inorganic, and Natural Art Materials*. [online] Utrecht Ask the Expert. Available at:

https://assets.ctfassets.net/f1fikihmjtrp/68YAzgpP4sjGHq6NcZMOg2/12a923056955a 1b06cc154d29e014974/PP_NATURAL_SYNTHETIC_ORGANIC.pdf [Accessed 21 May 2025]. drkrm (2021). *Ghostwriter: The Polaroid Ghost & Other True Tales of the Paranormal by Joe Augustyn*. [online] drkrm. Available at:

https://drkrm.bigcartel.com/product/ghostwriter-the-polaroid-ghost-other-true-talesof-the-paranormal-by-joe-augustyn [Accessed 15 Nov. 2024].

Drkrm.com. (n.d.). *seeing things | ghost polaroids | drkrm*. [online] Available at: https://www.drkrm.com/ghost2.html [Accessed 15 Nov. 2024].

Early Tourists in Wales. (2015). *copper works and mines*. [online] Available at: https://sublimewales.wordpress.com/material-culture/occupations/industry/copper-works/ [Accessed 14 Feb. 2024].

Earthsounds / Apple TV February 2024. (2024). *Chris Watson*. [online] Available at: https://chriswatson.net/ [Accessed 3 Mar. 2024].

Elias, C. (2019). Whose Digital Heritage?: Contemporary Art, 3D Printing and the Limits of Cultural Property. *Third Text*, 33(6), pp.687–707. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/09528822.2019.1667629.

Ervinck, N. (n.d.). *Official website of Nick Ervinck, contemporary artist*. [online] nickervinck.com. Available at: https://nickervinck.com/en.

Fauzi, T.A. (2012). *Botany and Metaphor*. [PDF] Available at: https://repository.uel.ac.uk/download/03aa892029ec36a81cc01ac5796a42cb25a06d 88e6c4fed1f768b2d028661e31/12080552/2012_Fauzi_FineArts.pdf [Accessed 23 Feb. 2024].

Fazzare, E. (2023). *Inside the Growing Trend of Plants in Contemporary Art*. [online] Artsy. Available at: https://www.artsy.net/article/artsy-editorial-inside-growing-trend-plants-contemporary-art.

fisher, M. (2006). *k-punk: Hauntology Now*. [online] k-punk.abstractdynamics.org. Available at: http://k-punk.abstractdynamics.org/archives/007230.html.

Fisher, M. (2012). What Is Hauntology? *Film Quarterly*, 66(1), pp.16–24. doi:https://doi.org/10.1525/fq.2012.66.1.16.

Fisher, M. (2013). The Metaphysics of Crackle: Afrofuturism and Hauntology. *Dancecult*, 5(2), pp.42–55. doi:https://doi.org/10.12801/1947-5403.2013.05.02.03.

Fisher, M. (2014). *Ghosts of My Life: Writings on Depression, Hauntology and Lost Futures*. Winchester: Zero Books.

Fisher, M. (2017). The Weird And The Eerie. London: Repeater Books.

Fraenkel Gallery. (n.d.). *Adam Fuss*. [online] Available at: https://fraenkelgallery.com/artists/adam-fuss.

Francis-Baker, T. (2021). Concise Foraging Guide. Bloomsbury Publishing.

Fung, E. (2021). *How to Make a Battery-Powered Lightbox Photo Frame*. [online] Gnuf on Code. Available at: https://gnuf.dev/how-to-make-a-self-contained-lightbox-photo-frame/ [Accessed 25 Jun. 2024].

Gallix, A. (2011). Hauntology: A not-so-new critical manifestation. *The Guardian*. [online] 17 Jun. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/books/booksblog/2011/jun/17/hauntology-critical.

Gallo, L. (2018). Hauntology: Origin. *Pennsylvania Literary Journal*, [online] 10(2), pp.105–216. Available at:

https://www.proquest.com/docview/2099893765/fulltextPDF/2977367DA314FCDPQ/1 ?accountid=130472&sourcetype=Scholarly%20Journals# [Accessed 12 Mar. 2025].

gallowaywildfoods.com. (2013). *Scarlet Elf Cup – Identification, Edibility, Distribution, Ecology, Recipes – Galloway Wild Foods*. [online] Available at: https://gallowaywildfoods.com/scarlet-elf-cup-identification-edibility-distribution/.

Gottesman, S. (2017). *A Brief History of Flowers in Western Art*. [online] Artsy. Available at: https://www.artsy.net/article/artsy-editorial-van-gogh-okeeffe-art-historys-famous-flowers [Accessed 23 Feb. 2024].

Grüber, C. (2014). The Rose of the Prophet: Floral Metaphors in Late Ottoman Devotional Art. *BRILL eBooks*, pp.223–249. doi:https://doi.org/10.1163/9789004280281_011.

Henry, B. (2024). *Polaroid Ghosts*. [online] Brian Henry Photography. Available at: https://www.brianhenryyy.com/polaroidghosts [Accessed 15 Nov. 2024].

Hughes, A. (n.d.). *Andy Hughes Photography*. [online] www.andyhughes.net. Available at: https://www.andyhughes.net/.

Irving, J., Howes, M.-J. and Simmonds, M. (2017). *The gardener's companion to medicinal plants*. London: Frances Lincoln Publishers Ltd.

Jenkins, S. (2014). *Bruce Davidson's iconic welsh mining photographs go to auction*. [online] Wales Online. Available at: https://www.walesonline.co.uk/news/uknews/gallery/bruce-davidsons-iconic-welsh-mining-7774993 [Accessed 18 Feb. 2024].

Karidis, A. (2024). *PLA Scores Low in Latest Research*. [online] www.waste360.com. Available at: https://www.waste360.com/plastics/pla-scores-low-in-latest-research.

Kaye, N. (2000). *Site-specific art : performance, place, and documentation*. London ; New York: Routledge.

Kusama, Y. and Tate Modern (2021). *Photograph of Infinity Mirror Room*. [Photograph of installation] Available at: https://www.tate.org.uk/whats-on/tate-modern/yayoi-kusama-infinity-mirror-rooms [Accessed 20 May 2025].

Kwon, M. (2002). *One Place after Another : Site-Specific Art and Locational Identity*. Cambridge: Mit Press.

Kwun, A. (2020). *How Mushrooms Have Proliferated as a Material for Art-Making* | *The Slowdown*. [online] www.slowdown.media. Available at: https://www.slowdown.tv/article/how-mushrooms-have-proliferated-as-a-material-for-art-making [Accessed 27 Feb. 2024].

Lempert, S. (2021). *Stephanie Lempert*. [online] Stephanie Lempert. Available at: https://www.stephanielempert.com [Accessed 7 Aug. 2024].

lisweb.swan.ac.uk. (n.d.). *South Wales Coalfield Collection*. [online] Available at: https://lisweb.swan.ac.uk/swcc/ [Accessed 14 Feb. 2024].

Lithophanemaker.com (n.d.). *Image to Lithophane Generator*. [online] lithophanemaker.com. Available at: https://lithophanemaker.com/ [Accessed 30 Oct. 2024].

Liu, W., Zhou, J., Ma, Y., Wang, J. and Xu, J. (2017). Fabrication of PLA Filaments and its Printable Performance. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, 275, p.012033. doi:https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899x/275/1/012033.

Llewellyn, D.H., Rohse, M., Bere, J., Lewis, K. and Fyfe, H. (2017). Transforming landscapes and identities in the south Wales valleys. *Landscape Research*, 44(7), pp.804–821. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/01426397.2017.1336208.

Lotzof, K. (n.d.). *The first book of photographs*. [online] www.nhm.ac.uk. Available at: https://www.nhm.ac.uk/discover/anna-atkins-cyanotypes-the-first-book-of-photographs.html.

Madrid Academy of Art (2024). *Plastic Art*. [online] Madrid Academy Of Art. Available at: https://madridacademyofart.com/plastic-art/ [Accessed 7 Nov. 2024].

Magnum Photos Store. (n.d.). *Welsh Miners. Wales, 1950*. [online] Available at: https://www.magnumphotos.com/shop/collections/fine-prints/welsh-miners-wales-1950/.

Mahler, M. (n.d.). *3D Printing Artists*. [online] Mobiles by Marco Mahler. Available at: https://www.marcomahler.com/3d-printing-artist-sculpture-art/.

McPherson, C. (2024). Considering the past, present and future: making the case for a hauntological approach to youth. *Journal of Youth Studies*, 1-17. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/13676261.2024.2328121.

Melissa Borrell Design. (n.d.). *Micro/Macro Landscapes*. [online] Available at: https://www.melissaborrell.com/collections/micro-macro-landscapes [Accessed 2 Mar. 2024]. Michałowska, M. (2020). Invisible Presence of the Past: Hauntology of Photography. *Magic*, (Vol. 5, no. 1), pp.80–85. doi:https://doi.org/10.47659/m8.080.art.

Mohammadmiri, M. (2018). *Place in Photography: How photographers encounter place – EJMAP*. [online] Ejmap.sk. Available at: https://ejmap.sk/place-in-photography-how-photographers-encounter-place/ [Accessed 15 Nov. 2024].

National Coal Mining Museum. (n.d.). *Martyn Pitt*. [online] Available at: https://www.ncm.org.uk/whats-on/martyn-pitt/ [Accessed 17 Feb. 2024].

National Museum Wales and Cornwell, J. (1977). *Drift mine at Clydach Merthyr Colliery*. [Photograph] *Peoples Collection Wales*. Available at: https://www.peoplescollection.wales/items/978236#?xywh=153%2C342%2C873%2C 533 [Accessed 21 May 2025].

northernearth.co.uk. (2022). *The City and the Country: Psychogeography – As we see it -Northern Earth*. [online] Available at: https://northernearth.co.uk/the-city-and-thecountry/ [Accessed 13 Feb. 2024].

NPR (2014). *The Polaroid Phantom*. [online] NPR. Available at: https://www.npr.org/2014/10/24/358553417/the-polaroid-phantom [Accessed 15 Nov. 2024].

O'Dair, M. (2014). *'Pataphysics: Your Favorite Cult Artist's Favorite Pseudoscience*. [online] @pitchfork. Available at: https://pitchfork.com/features/article/9527pataphysics-your-favorite-cult-artists-favorite-pseudoscience/.

Painter, A.G. (2008). *Seeing Things: Ghost Polaroids*. [online] NBC Los Angeles. Available at:

https://www.nbclosangeles.com/local/seeing_things_ghost_polaroids/1843151/ [Accessed 15 Nov. 2024].

Pandey, M. and Veena, S.S. (2007). Mushrooms for Aesthetic Industry. *Mushroom Biology and Biotechnology*, [online] 213, p.259. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Dr-Mahesh-

Yadav/publication/294889868_Mushroom_Biology_and_Biotechnology/links/56c5a4f2 08aea564e306c5be/Mushroom-Biology-and-Biotechnology.pdf#page=258 [Accessed 2 Apr. 2024].

Patrick Keiller. (n.d.). Patrick Keiller. [online] Available at: https://patrickkeiller.org/.

Peoples Collection Wales (1977). *Black and white film negative showing the entrance to what appears to be the drift mine, Clydach Merthyr Colliery*. [Photograph] Available at: https://www.peoplescollection.wales/items/978236#?xywh=46%2C270%2C1048%2C 640 [Accessed 21 May 2025].

Peoples Collection Wales (n.d.). *The Collection*. [online] www.peoplescollection.wales. Available at: https://www.peoplescollection.wales/discover/query/the%20nixon [Accessed 21 May 2025]. Peoples Collection Wales. (n.d.). *A People's Story of Wales*. [online] Available at: https://www.peoplescollection.wales.

Peoples Collection Wales. (n.d.). *Merthyr Tydfil Colliery*. [online] Available at: https://www.peoplescollection.wales/collections/1272831 [Accessed 7 May 2024].

Pestilli, F. (2019). *Crushed Rose 1*. [Photograph] Available at: https://www.carrie-scott.com/shop/federico-pestilli-crushed-rose-i-mfw3p [Accessed 20 May 2025].

Pratt, L. (2016). *Louis Pratt online art store*. [online] louispratt. Available at: https://www.louispratt.com/ [Accessed 8 Aug. 2024].

Prince, D. (2022). *The decaying remains of a Welsh quarry abandoned decades ago*. [online] Wales Online. Available at:

https://www.walesonline.co.uk/lifestyle/nostalgia/gallery/decaying-remains-welshquarry-abandoned-25827228 [Accessed 14 Feb. 2024].

Renshaw, A. (n.d.). *10 Site-Specific Masterpieces of Art You Can Only Appreciate in Person* | *Frommer's*. [online] www.frommers.com. Available at: https://www.frommers.com/slideshows/847929-10-site-specific-masterpieces-of-artyou-can-only-appreciate-in-person.

Richard, I.M. (2020). Craig Cefn Parc and Cwm Clydach Lower Clydach River Valley a potted history. PDF.

Riley, M.S. (2005). *An Aesthetics of Hauntology*. [PDF] Available at: https://doi.org/10.25602/GOLD.00028985 [Accessed 13 Feb. 2024].

Rottenberg, M. and Hauser & Wirth (2024). *Photograph of mushroom sculpture*. [Photograph and Sculpture] Available at: https://www.hauserwirth.com/ursula/mika-rottenberg-plastic/ [Accessed 20 May 2025].

Rottenberg, M. and Tsonopoulos, O. (2024). *Mika Rottenberg: Plastic*. [online] Hauser & Wirth. Available at: https://www.hauserwirth.com/ursula/mika-rottenberg-plastic/?utm_source=instagram&utm_medium=social&utm_campaign=likeshopme&ut m_content=www.instagram.com/p/C9pp4hnoHNv [Accessed 21 May 2025].

RSPB (2025). *Cwm Clydach*. [online] www.rspb.org.uk. Available at: https://www.rspb.org.uk/days-out/reserves/cwm-clydach.

Rud, J.-P., Simmons, M., Toews, G. and Aragon, F. (2022). *Institute for Fiscal Studies*. [online] Available at: https://ifs.org.uk/sites/default/files/2022-09/Job%20displacement%20costs%20of%20phasing%20out%20coal.pdf.

Scott, C. (2016). *3D Printed Art: Is it Really Art at All? If Not, What is It?* [online] 3DPrint.com | The Voice of 3D Printing / Additive Manufacturing. Available at: https://3dprint.com/135484/define-3d-printed-art/.

Sidaway, J.D. (2021). Psychogeography: Walking through strategy, nature and narrative. *Progress in Human Geography*, 46(2), p.030913252110172. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/03091325211017212.

Slump, G. (2023). *PLA Smoothing – Beginner's Guide to Smoothing 3D Prints*. [online] All3DP. Available at: https://all3dp.com/2/pla-smoothing-a-beginner-s-guide/.

Smith, L. (1992). 'The Seed of the Flower': Photography and Pre-Raphaelitism. *Huntington Library Quarterly*, 55(1), pp.37–53. doi:https://doi.org/10.2307/3817654.

Szykiedans, K., Credo, W. and Osiński, D. (2017). Selected Mechanical Properties of PETG 3-D Prints. *Procedia Engineering*, 177(1877-7058), pp.455–461. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2017.02.245.

Tate (2025). *Layers Coursework Guide*. [online] Tate. Available at: https://www.tate.org.uk/art/student-resource/exam-help/layers-coursework-guide.

Tate. (2022). *Yayoi Kusama: Infinity Mirror Rooms*. [online] Available at: https://www.tate.org.uk/whats-on/tate-modern/yayoi-kusama-infinity-mirror-rooms.

The Polaroid Phantom, Snap Jugement, (2014). NPR, WAMU 88.5 American University Radio. 24 Oct. Available at: https://www.npr.org/2014/10/24/358553417/the-polaroid-phantom [Accessed 15 Nov. 2024].

Theunissen, D. (2022). *Federico Pestilli's plastic-smothered flowers are poignant metaphors*. [online] Wallpaper*. Available at: https://www.wallpaper.com/art/federico-pestilli-nature-morte-photoseries.

Thompson, E. (2007). *Seeing Things : Ghost Polaroids*. [online] LAist. Available at: https://laist.com/news/entertainment/seeing-things [Accessed 15 Nov. 2024].

Tsonopoulos, O. (2024). *Mika Rottenberg: Plastic. Houser and Wirth*. Available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9uUGNOS1wvE&t=37s [Accessed 21 May 2025].

Twigg, S.A. (2020). Coal mining in Wales: the 1930s writers who depicted the environmental calamity caused by the pits. [online] The Conversation. Available at: https://theconversation.com/coal-mining-in-wales-the-1930s-writers-who-depicted-the-environmental-calamity-caused-by-the-pits-144828.

Voxeljet. (n.d.). 3D printing in art. [online] Available at: https://www.voxeljet.com/additive-manufacturing/industries/art-anddesign/#:~:text=3D%20printed%20art%20can%20be.

Weiner, A. (2022). *The Rise of 'Immersive' Art*. [online] The New Yorker. Available at: https://www.newyorker.com/news/letter-from-silicon-valley/the-rise-and-rise-of-immersive-art.

Wells, L. (2011). *Land matters : landscape photography, culture and identity*. London ; New York: Routledge.

Welshcoalmines.co.uk. (n.d.). *Clydach Merthyr Colliery*. [online] Available at: https://www.welshcoalmines.co.uk/GlamWest/Clydachmerthyr.htm [Accessed 4 Mar. 2025].

Wight, M. (1946). Peasant Art in Britain. *Design*, 48(2), pp.18–18. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/00119253.1946.10742538.

Wild Food UK. (n.d.). *Wild UK Mushrooms (Fungi): Guide to Identification & Picking*. [online] Available at: https://www.wildfooduk.com/mushroom-guide/.

Williams, N. (2022). *Big changes at old copperworks set to become distillery*. [online] Wales Online. Available at: https://www.walesonline.co.uk/news/wales-news/big-changes-hafod-morfa-copperworks-22880088 [Accessed 14 Feb. 2024].

Woodland Trust (2025). *Scarlet Elf Cup (Sarcoscypha austriaca) – British Fungi*. [online] Woodland Trust. Available at: https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/trees-woods-andwildlife/fungi-and-lichens/scarlet-elf-cup/.

www.gardnermuseum.org. (n.d.). *Presence of Plants in Contemporary Art | Isabella Stewart Gardner Museum*. [online] Available at:

https://www.gardnermuseum.org/experience/presence-of-plants-in-contemporary-art/gallery-

guide#:~:text=Presence%20of%20Plants%20in%20Contemporary%20Art%20features %20work%20by%20artists [Accessed 26 Feb. 2024].

www.peoplescollection.wales. (n.d.). *The Collection* | *Peoples Collection Wales*. [online] Available at:

https://www.peoplescollection.wales/discover/query/Craig%20cefn%20parc [Accessed 21 May 2025].

Wylie, J. (2007). Landscape. Routledge.

Y.U, R. (2022). A Study of the Plant Metaphors in Book of Poetry. *Journal of Literature and Art Studies*, [online] 12(8), pp.811-016. doi:https://doi.org/10.17265/2159-5836/2022.08.004.

Yayoi Kusama: Infinity Mirror Rooms. (2021). [Exhibition]. Tate Modern, London. 18th of May 2021– 28th of April 2024.